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Monday, December 5, 2011

--- On commencing at 10:07 a.m.

MS. TAYLOR:  Please be seated.

Good morning.  My name is Karen Taylor, and sitting with me today is Ken Quesnelle.

The Board has convened today on the matter of an application filed on June 30th, 2011 by Guelph Hydro Electric Systems Inc., or Guelph Hydro, seeking approval for changes to the rates that it charges for electricity distribution to be effective January 1st, 2012.

The Board assigned docket EB-2011-0123 to this application.

The Board issued a notice of application and hearing on July 18th, 2011, and on August 5th issued Procedural Order No. 1, which included a draft issues list.

On October 12th, the Board issued Procedural Order No. 2, which included a final issues list and made provisions for technical and settlement conferences to be held.

The Board also approved -- or provided, rather, that it would hear issues 6.1, 6.2 and 12.1 from the issues list, together with any unsettled issues, in an oral hearing commencing today, December the 5th.

A settlement agreement was filed with the Board on December 2nd.

With respect to the logistics of this hearing, we will first hear any comments or presentations that the applicant, parties or the Board -- or Board staff, rather, may have with respect to the settlement agreement.

If there are none, the Board is prepared to accept the settlement agreement as filed.  We will then commence to hear the proceeding to hear the unsettled issues.

Are there any comments or presentations?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is James Sidlofsky, counsel for Guelph.  Guelph had not planned on making a presentation on the settlement agreement this morning.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Mr. Shepherd?  Mr. Buonaguro?  No.  Anyone else?

Okay.  There being none, the Panel, therefore, accepts the settlement agreement as filed and hereby declares current rates to be interim as of January 1st, 2012.

With that, may I have appearances, please?
Appearances


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Once again, Madam Chair, James Sidlofsky, counsel for Guelph Hydro.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning.  Jay Shepherd, counsel for School Energy Coalition.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Shepherd.

MS. SEBALJ:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Kristi Sebalj, legal counsel for the Board, and I'm companied by Birgit Armstrong.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

If there are no preliminary matters, Mr. Sidlofsky, would you please present your first panel?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Certainly, Madam Chair, first and only panel.  As you mentioned, there are three issues here.  Issue 6.1:
"Is the proposed inclusion of the smart meter costs in the 2012 revenue requirement appropriate?"


Issue 6.2:
"Is the proposed disposition of the balances in variance accounts 1555 and 1556 appropriate?"


And with respect to the basic Green Energy Act plan filed by Guelph Hydro, issue 12.1 is:
"Is Guelph Hydro's Green Energy Act Plan, including the Smart Grid component of the plan appropriate?"


To assist the Board and the parties, Guelph Hydro is presenting a single witness panel, and that panel will deal with both the smart meter and Green Energy Act plan issues.

The CVs of the panel members have been provided to Board Staff.  I believe we do have copies for the Panel, as well.

And perhaps if the Board could mark those as an exhibit, that would be appreciated.

MS. SEBALJ:  I am pausing, because I need to make sure I have the right day.  So it will be Exhibit J -- no, no.  Which day of the hearing are we on?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  One.

MS. SEBALJ:  There were no Js in the proceeding?  Sorry.  Excuse me.  Sorry.  It should be J2.1, I believe.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, would that be J or K for an exhibit?

MS. SEBALJ:  We can mark it as K if we have marked undertakings as otherwise.   Sure, K2.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CVS OF WITNESS PANEL. 

MS. TAYLOR:  Just before we proceed, I seem to be having trouble with my scrolling transcript.  It is not moving.

MS. SEBALJ:  Want to take a short break?

MS. TAYLOR:  If you would, I would appreciate that.

[Technical difficulty]
GUELPH HYDRO ELECTRIC SYSTEMS INC. - PANEL 1

Ian Miles, Sworn

Cristina Birceanu, Sworn

Matt Weninger, Sworn

Sandra Manners, Sworn

Michael Koktan, Sworn

MS. TAYLOR:  So while we fix our technology, the Panel will step out of the room and just let us know when we're ready.  Five minutes.

--- Recess taken at 10:15 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 10:19 a.m.

MS. TAYLOR:  Please be seated.

All right, Mr. Sidlofsky, let's carry on.
Examination by Mr. Sidlofsky


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Ms. Taylor.

I have some questions for the witness panel, and in the beginning of them, I will be introducing the members of the panel to you.  I expect I will be 15 to 20 minutes in direct examination, and then we will open the panel up for cross-examination.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Perhaps I could start with Mr. Miles sitting closest to the Panel.  If I could have you state your name for the record?

MR. MILES:  It's Ian Miles, I-A-N, M-I-L-E-S.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And next?

MS. BIRCEANU:  It's Cristina Birceanu, C-R-I-S-T-I-N-A B-I-R-C-E-A-N-U.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Next.

MR. WENINGER:  It's Matt Weninger, M-A-T-T W-E-N-I-N-G-E-R.

MS. MANNERS:  And Sandra Manners, S-A-N-D-R-A M-A-N-N-E-R-S.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And finally.

MR. KOKTAN:  Michael Koktan, M-I-C-H-A-E-L K-O-K-T-A-N.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, Madam Chair, the CVs have now been filed as an exhibit.

MS. SEBALJ:  Over the short break, it has come to my attention that we can indeed mark it as K1.1.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I will have each of the panel members indicate their position with the company, though, and their role on the panel today for the Board's assistance.  So, Mr. Miles, you are the chief financial officer for Guelph Hydro?

MR. MILES:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I understand you have had that role since 2007?

MR. MILES:  Yes, that's right.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And prior to that, you were with Toronto Hydro Energy Services; correct?

MR. MILES:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You hold an MBA?

MR. MILES:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And what is your area of responsibility in today's hearing?

MR. MILES:  I am responsible for the financial matters related to the smart meter application and the Green Energy Act plan.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Perhaps I could move over to Mr. Weninger.

You are the director of metering and conservation for Guelph Hydro, and I understand that you have more than 20 years of electrical utility experience at Guelph Hydro; correct, and you are a licensed professional engineer?

MR. WENINGER:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you are currently responsible for metering, electrical maintenance and field communications in the company's SCADA system?

MR. WENINGER:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I understand that you also are in charge of implementing Guelph's smart meter program?

MR. WENINGER:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And the delivery of CDM?

MR. WENINGER:  Also correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  And, sir, your role on the panel today, and in the application, sorry?

MR. WEININGER:  Responsible for engineering matters related to our smart meter deployment and Green Energy Act plan.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Manners, director of corporate communications for Guelph Hydro?

MS. MANNERS:  That's right.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You have had position since 2010; correct?

MS. MANNERS:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I understand you were with Horizon Utilities prior to that?

MS. MANNERS:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you have taught issues in crisis communications planning at McMaster?

MS. MANNERS:  Yes, I have.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You have served as the chair of communicator's council of the EDA; correct?

MS. MANNERS:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Your role on the panel today and in the application?

MS. MANNERS:  I assisted in planning Green Energy Act plan pilot projects.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Birceanu, manager of regulatory affairs, and I understand that you have over 23 years of electrical utility experience in Europe and Canada; correct?

MS. BIRCEANU:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You have been -- you have been with Guelph Hydro a total of six years; is that correct?

MS. BIRCEANU:  Right.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you hold a bachelor's degree in electrical power engineering and a bachelor's in economics, as well?

MS. BIRCEANU:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And could you tell the Panel your role in the application, at least as it relates to smart meters and the Green Energy Act?

MS. BIRCEANU:  So I am responsible for the overall preparation of Guelph Hydro's cost-of-service application, and I assisted in the calculation of the Green Energy Act plan rate riders and adders, and the completion and testing of the smart meter model. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.

And finally, Mr. Koktan, you are the manager of accounting at Guelph Hydro? 

MR. KOKTAN:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you have held that position since 2004? 

MR. KOKTAN:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You are a chartered accountant? 

MR. KOKTAN:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And your responsibility with respect to these issues? 

MR. KOKTAN:  I was responsible for tracking the smart meter-related operating and capital costs and the rate rider collections in deferral accounts 1555 and 1556.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I am going to ask the panel generally:  Was the evidence prepared by you or under your supervision, as it relates to these issues?

MR. MILES:  Yes, it was.

MR. KOKTAN:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And do you adopt it as your own evidence in this proceeding? 

MR. MILES:  Yes, we do.

MR. KOKTAN:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And do you also adopt Guelph Hydro's responses to Board Staff and intervenor interrogatories and technical conference questions and undertaking responses as your own evidence? 

MR. MILES:  The responses were prepared by Guelph Hydro staff, and we adopt the responses as our own, but we wish to be clear that not all of the responses reflect Guelph Hydro's request in this application.

We may have been asked to perform calculations based on alternative scenarios with respect to smart meters and our Green Energy Act plan, and we have performed the calculations and responded to the interrogatories, but we do not necessarily agree that the alternative scenarios are appropriate, or that they should be adopted by the Board.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Birceanu, do you have any corrections to the evidence related to smart meters or the Green Energy Act plan? 

MS. BIRCEANU:  A small number of changes have been made to the Green Energy Act plan and to the smart meter calculations, and these were filed with the Board on November 23rd and November 24th. 

We affixed explanatory cover letters.  Changes were made in the four general areas. 

So the basic Green Energy Act plan was revised to update the timing of the plan and corresponding expenditures from 2011, 2015 time frame, into 2012 and 2015 time frame. 

Also, Guelph Hydro updated the Green Energy Act renewable connection calculation -- calculations, in order to capture the capital and OM&A associated with renewable connection, separately from smart grid-related items. 

Guelph Hydro updated the evidence with respect to its Green Energy Act smart grid rate adder calculations, in order to correct the amortization and PILs calculation, and exclude direct benefits.


And in addition, Guelph Hydro updated its smart meter disposition rate rider calculation to correct certain formulas and reflect the Board's updated cost of capital parameters.

And another update was to reflect the scientific research and experimental development tax credit in the smart meter rate rider calculation. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Ms. Birceanu.

Mr. Weninger, could you provide the panel with an overview of the material that Guelph Hydro's filed in respect of its smart meters and its Green Energy Act plan? 

MR. WENINGER:  Certainly.  Guelph Hydro's basic Green Energy Act plan can be found at Exhibit 2, tab 4, schedule 6, appendix D of our application. 

Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 1 of Guelph Hydro's prefiled evidence contains a discussion of our Green Energy Act plan and OM&A costs related to it. 

At that time, we had not allocated any costs of eligible renewable generation connection investments to Ontario ratepayers generally, and had instead allocated all costs to our own ratepayers.

Since then, we reconsidered this in response to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 51, and performed the direct benefit calculation. 

Our smart meter application can be found at Exhibit 9, tab 3, schedule 1 of our application.  We believe that our application complies with the Board's requirements for recovery of revenue requirement related to smart meters, including the Board's guideline G 2008-0002, related to smart meter funding and cost recovery.

At Exhibit 9 tab 3, schedule 1, page 6 of our application, we confirm that our smart meters and back office systems meet the minimum specifications set out by regulation 425.06.  We also discuss the one aspect of our smart meter program that does exceed minimum functionality, specifically the fact that Guelph Hydro smart meters contain what we refer to as a ZigBee chip.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And, sir, can you tell the Board what that chip does?

MR. WENINGER:  The ZigBee chip is a communications chip, which is what is -- based on what is known as the ZigBee standard.  It will enable us to communicate through the smart meter with in-home devices such as thermostats, displays and ZigBee-equipped smart appliances.

We believe that the ZigBee chip could assist customers in taking better advantages of the benefits that a smart meter could offer, including provision of real-time or near real-time consumption information to empower customers to better understand and manage their energy consumption, serving as a cornerstone for smart grid or smart home application development, including support for the development of home energy management systems, home automation and residential demand response, supporting implementation of control activities for electric vehicle charging during off-peak periods, enabling smart appliances and electrical vehicle charging system to read time-of-use rate buckets and adjust consumption according to consumer-selected criteria.  Examples of that could be vehicles might only charge at off-peak times and clothes dryers might only operate at off-peak times.  Also allowing for the control of renewable energy -- renewable sources of energy, so that they may kick in or turn off according to signals received via the ZigBee chip.

Inclusion of this technology in the meter will provide a tool for customers to better educate themselves on energy efficient use, and better manage their consumption, which will, in turn, help us meet our mandated conservation targets.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Weninger, why install the chip now? 

MR. WENINGER:  The smart meter deployment was to include minimum functionality as defined by provincial specification, but this specification at the time appeared to be focussed primarily on metering to support future time-of-use rates and really did not consider the natural interface of the smart meter and related communication systems for real-time telemetry of customer consumption information as a support tool for the broader goal of building a culture of conservation, and the support of potential customer conservation and demand response initiatives.

At the time, we believed that ordering the smart meters without a ZigBee chip would limit our future ability to offer conservation programs and/or services in support of building a conservation culture, or would result in much greater cost in the future to replace meters with other meters that did have this functionality.  Smart meters were expected to have a 15-year service life, and conservation program delivery appeared to be more of a permanent future requirement, not just a brief experiment.

We believed it was prudent to include the communication chip in the meters on the basis that the incremental cost to do so was relatively minor, at approximately $12.25 per meter out of a total per-meter cost of approximately $200 per meter, in comparison to the alternative of having to replace large volumes of meters before their end of useful service life, estimated to be about 15 years.

In addition, we believe that substantial customer and electric system benefits would be missed if the chip was not included. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Mr. Weninger, what would the cost be to retrofit the meters with that chip?

MR. WENINGER:  The smart meters could not be readily retrofitted with the ZigBee chip.  The chip is embedded within the network communications card, which is inside the meter.  To retrofit the meter, the meter would need to be removed from the field, returned to the manufacturer, have its Measurement Canada seal broken, disassembled, a new network card with the ZigBee chip installed, retested, re-certified and Measurement Canada re-sealed.  It would then need to be reinstalled in the field.

Simply put, we believe it would be more cost-effective to simply purchase a new meter equipped with a ZigBee chip than attempting to go through a re-work of the used meter.  The purchase and installation of a new ZigBee-equipped would then beg the question of what do we do with the just-removed meters.  And we expect that the just-removed smart meters would likely be scrapped. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And how common is what you have referred to as the ZigBee standard? 

MR. WENINGER:  We discussed this in the response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 39. 

At this time, there still is no clear, single de facto standard for home area network or home automation communication, but ZigBee is the primary smart meter communications chip sold by our smart metering AMI vendor.

In fact, 100 percent of the chips sold by the -- by our AMI provider are Zigbee.  We have also seen recent announcements where manufacturers are planning to deploy ZigBee in commercial building automation applications.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Are you aware of other Ontario distributors that use the ZigBee chip?

MR. WENINGER:  We are aware that there are some LDCs that are now considering replacing existing smart meters with new smart meters equipped with the ZigBee chip.

And the purpose for that is to facilitate the OPA's peaksaver plus residential demand response program in order to enable smart meter in-home display communications for those customers that do sign up for that particular CDM program.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Weninger.

Ms. Manners, do you have some comments on Guelph Hydro's Green Energy Act plan?

MS. MANNERS:  Yes, I do.  Guelph Hydro has filed a basic plan containing a current assessment of our distribution system, a planned approach to upgrading our system to accommodate renewable generation, and proposed initiatives to enable the development of a smart grid.

I would like to touch on a number of the smart grid-related aspects of the plan.

The discussion of those initiatives begins at page 18 of the plan, and there are four of them:  the in-home messaging project, the electric vehicle project, the smart grid/smart home demonstration project, and the smart grid high school educational program.

Mr. Weninger will speak to the in-home messaging project and I will address the others.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So, Mr. Weninger, you are back.  Perhaps we could start with you.

MR. WENINGER:  The in-home messaging project, in this project, Guelph Hydro intends to leverage the investment in the smart meters, related communication infrastructure, as well as the ZigBee chip, to provide a mechanism for, again, consumer behavioural change, as well as a vehicle for conservation and community-based messaging to the residential and small commercial customers that are equipped with smart meters.

I should note that the in-home displays themselves are not part of this particular project.  We have assumed that the displays will be funded through the OPA's tier 1 CDM program, currently known as peaksaver plus, which will replace the peaksaver residential demand response program of previous years.

This project includes the costs for the design, acquisition, installation, system integration, commissioning and training for our back office hardware and software solution that will manage the community's in-home displace inventory, the smart meter in-home display pairing and device security, as well as providing a tool for creating and managing the messaging.

Also included in the project are OM&A costs for annual software licensing fees and remote system operational support.  Initially, this initiative is contemplated as a not-for-profit community-based tool, as we need to be able to demonstrate that the technology can positively deliver what we believe it can deliver.

There are no similar projects in Ontario, since Guelph is the only LDC that has the ZigBee chip equipped in all of its smart meters.  And, to the best of our knowledge, there are currently no similar projects elsewhere in North America.

If the project does provide viable, reliable and successful, we would be considering other financial models with a minimum threshold of full cost recovery.

In order to expand the pilot into a community-wide program, we recognize that the current in-home display CDM funding model and delivery mechanisms will also need to be modified, and we anticipate this would be based on further discussions with the OPA and the OEB.

The in-home display may act as a bridge between the CDM and smart grid worlds, as it can support both initiatives.  And we note that the separation of CDM and smart grid activities is not a straightforward separation, as an LDC will deem a project or part of a project, along with its associated costs, to be CDM driven if there is a positive contribution towards our mandated conservation targets 2011 to 2014.

The program will also support the goals of the City of Guelph in pursuit of its aggressive long-term per capita energy reductions, which include electricity, water, gas and transportation costs through its visionary community energy initiative, which we hope will become a model for other municipalities to follow.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Manners, back to you.  Perhaps we could start with the electric vehicle pilot.

MS. MANNERS:  Mm-hm.  The electric vehicle pilot project is intended to educate residents on electric vehicles and charging systems, so that when the time comes for them to purchase an electric vehicle, they're informed consumers and will be able to understand the impact of charging at different times of the day and using different rate plans, if applicable.

We plan to leverage the smart meter ZigBee chip by exploring electric vehicle charging stations that are also equipped with ZigBee chips and understanding how these systems could read time-of-use buckets and adjust consumption according to consumer-selected criteria; for example, only charging during off-peak times.

Guelph Hydro has undertaken a survey of the Guelph community, which concludes that Guelph is an ideal community for an electric vehicle pilot project for a number of reasons.  These are discussed in our response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 90.  I will not repeat all of the reasons here, but they do include, number 1, the fact that Guelph is considered a green community and its residents are environmentally concerned, and we anticipate that Guelph residents will be early adopters of EV technologies.

Our distribution network is fairly modern and has been upgraded regularly, so we do not anticipate major capacity issues with the addition of electric vehicles to our grid.

As a practical matter, travel distances tend to be short in Guelph, and this lends itself to electric vehicle technology.

Guelph has many businesses with small vehicle fleets and fairly frequent turnover, and this also lends itself to an electric vehicle pilot project.

The presence of the ZigBee chip makes it easy to conduct a pilot to measure consumer behavior in response to different rate plans, and Guelph Hydro has strong connections in the community with the Chamber of Commerce and large industrial institutional customers that would likely be interested in participating in an electric vehicle pilot project, including a local mall, the University of Guelph, as well as large manufacturing organizations.

Guelph Hydro is contemplating including a cube van type of electric vehicle as part of the pilot, so that can serve as a model for fleet owners and operators, which, again, would support the aggressive per capita energy reduction goals of the Guelph community energy initiative.

Subject to approval of the OEB, the project would enable the testing of various different rate plans for electric vehicles.

Guelph Hydro is a member of GridSmartCity, and, as such, has been able to tap into the network of utilities that are exploring electric vehicle demonstration projects.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And the smart grid/smart home project?

MS. MANNERS:  Smart grid/smart home demonstration project.  As I mentioned, Guelph Hydro is unique in that it is the only utility in Ontario that has deployed Zigbee communications chip-enabled smart meters throughout its service territory, and we want to leverage this investment in ZigBee chip technology by developing a smart grid/smart home demonstration project as a component of our Green Energy Act plan.

The project will use a newly-constructed green home provided by a local builder to showcase innovative technologies and bring to life the vision of a smart grid.  Its main purpose would be education of a wide variety of audiences.  We envision the project will incorporate and showcase technologies that would include smart meters, renewable energy, in-home display units, home energy management systems, smart appliances, large ones and small ones, electric car charging stations, demand management systems and automated lighting controls.

The ZigBee chip will be a key element in the interaction between the smart meter and the other elements of the smart home.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And your final program I think was the smart grid high school education program?

MS. MANNERS:  That's right.  Guelph Hydro already participates in a popular OPA-sponsored grade 5 energy conservation program, but, as part of its Green Energy Act plan, Guelph Hydro is proposing the development and implementation of a high school smart grid education component delivered through local high schools and local school boards.

The educational material would be based on material already developed through Silver Spring Networks, our California smart metering technology provider, but modified for the Ontario market.

The program would have two units.  The first, benefits of the smart grid, include concepts such as, Where does energy come from?  How is it distributed?  What is the smart grid and how does it work?  And what are the benefits of a smart energy grid?

The second unit would enable students to explore careers in the smart grid industry, and would include concepts such as, What skills are needed to create and maintain the smart grid, what careers related to the smart grid currently exist or may be available in the future, and how might you prepare for these careers?

To summarize, Guelph Hydro believes that the ZigBee chip investment, as part of our smart meter program, as well as the various Green Energy Act plan elements, including those that take advantage of ZigBee chip technology, have been prudently developed and support the broader goals of building a culture of conservation, as well as the development of a smart grid.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, panel.  Madam Chair, the panel is now available for cross-examination.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you very much.  Perhaps if we have an order.  I know Board Staff has questions.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj

MS. SEBALJ:  I think we are first, unless there is any...

Good morning.  My name is Kristi Sebalj.

I think that my questions go basically in the order that you have provided your chief, so...

Mr. Weninger, I think you have confirmed for us that the costs associated with the ZigBee chip in the smart meters are approximately $12; is that correct? 

And I believe in the evidence, we have an aggregate amount of approximately $600,000 as a capital investment for the --


MR. WENINGER:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  Is the ZigBee chip installed in all the meters being deployed under the smart meter program?

MR. WENINGER:  Yes, that's correct.  Every residential and small commercial meter that was deployed is equipped with the ZigBee chip.

MS. SEBALJ:  So small commercial being GS less-than-50?

MR. WENINGER:  Correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And can you help us to understand what the ZigBee chip will be used for, for the GS less-than-50?  Presumably it is not an in-home display?

MR. WENINGER:  Not necessarily an in-home display, but if I use the parallel of conservation programs, there is a residential demand response program that was expanded to include small commercial, so the small commercial customers are eligible to participate in that program.

So we see some of the same conservation programs on the residential side, some of them reaching out to the small commercial accounts.

And again, a lot easier too for a customer to understand and manage what they can actually see, what they can -- what they can measure, what they can respond to.  So we still see there is some value in small commercial accounts being able to observe and do the right thing. 

MS. SEBALJ:  You have indicated that this is relatively unique in North America.  To your knowledge, you are the first utility to deploy; is that correct? 

MR. WENINGER:  Absolutely in Ontario, as far as the entire fleet.  We know there's jurisdictions elsewhere in North America and Australia, for example, where they have mandated a ZigBee chip for their entire deployment. 

We're not familiar with what applications are being deployed as a follow-up to the ZigBee chip implementation, but we do know that smart meters are being deployed elsewhere in North America with the ZigBee chip. 

MS. SEBALJ:  The reason I ask is because you have indicated that small commercial -- have you -- has Guelph determined exactly what the technologies will be for a small commercial? 

MR. WENINGER:  No, we haven't explored -- we haven't explored program offerings or other technologies, but again, we see some parallels on the conservation programming side.

Typically, the GS less-than-50 accounts have similar loads and similar configurations, so they should be able to participate in a number of the conservation programs. 

Examples of where we saw manufacturers discuss building automation systems as being ZigBee-enabled down the road, we anticipate other similar in-store appliances, whether they're refrigerators or freezers, other elements that will likely see a ZigBee chip enabled at some point in time, similar to residential appliances.

MS. SEBALJ:  Approximately how many meters -- I assume they're going in every small commercial meter; is that correct?  The ZigBee chip?

MR. WENINGER:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And approximately how many of those are there?  Do you know? 

MR. WENINGER:  We have over 49,000 smart meters installed, and of those, the GS less-than-50 are approximately 3,000 or 3,500; in that ballpark. 

MS. SEBALJ:  And the incremental cost of the chip is $12 on the commercial, as well as the residential?

MR. WENINGER:  It is the same chip in a different meter.  Correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And is there any plan by Guelph to connect with some of the other utilities in other jurisdictions that are using the ZigBee chip, to see whether there are any lessons that can be learned from their experience?

MR. WENINGER:  We have seen demonstration projects -- Oklahoma Gas & Electric, for example -- where they have done small-scale pilots.  We haven't seen the outcomes of their pilots, as they're relatively new, so we don't have any learnings from them yet.

They're in the similar sort of stage we're at, where the smart meters with the ZigBee chip have been deployed, and they're building the particular pilot or demonstration project.

MS. SEBALJ:  So for a typical residential single-phase smart meter, the $12 for the chip is about what percentage of the total capital cost for the meter?  Or you can just give me the number for the total capital cost of the meter, and we can do the math.

MR. WENINGER:  Yes.  Total capital cost for the entire project is approximately $9.3 million.  49,000-plus meters works out to be just over $200 per meter, including all of the back office, hardware, software and communications infrastructure that you need for the smart metering. 

MS. SEBALJ:  You mentioned in your chief that there is no clear standard for this ZigBee technology but that ZigBee seems to be the primary one that your AMI provider uses.

Are you familiar with any others in other jurisdictions, or provided by other AMI providers? 

MR. WENINGER:  There's a number of power line carrier technologies -- HomePlug, for example -- where instead of using wireless, it sends signals over the wiring inside your home.

We have seen a number of other technologies; Z-Wave, for example, that is a similar wireless technology.

But based on the information that we have seen from metering suppliers, ZigBee does appear to be the solution of choice.  I wouldn't say that it is the standard. 

I can't tell you where the technology will be in five or 10 years, but at the moment, at the time we were doing the research, it seemed the right decision to make, as far as the technology selection. 

MS. SEBALJ:  And with respect to that research, were you sort of constrained because of the meter and the AMI provider, to choose ZigBee, or did you do research and was it a conscious choice to choose the ZigBee chip? 

MR. WENINGER:  A little bit of both.  You have to recognize we explored above-minimum functionality in 2005, '06 and '07, before the concept of smart grid or the Green Energy Act plan was really vocalized.

We just felt that we would be doing ourselves and our customers a disservice over time by not including that flavour of technology inside the meter at relatively small expense.

There were some other offerings that were available at the time, but based on the research and recommendations and commentary from a variety of smart meter manufacturers, ZigBee seemed to be the right choice. 

MS. SEBALJ:  And I think you have already confirmed this, both in your evidence and this morning, but you will agree with me that the ZigBee chip isn't needed for smart meter operation in TOU pricing in accordance with O.Reg. 425.06?

MR. WENINGER:  Yes, I agree. 

MS. SEBALJ:  And again, to confirm, Guelph Hydro is seeking recovery of the costs of the ZigBee chip as part of its smart meter program; is that correct? 

MR. WENINGER:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry.  You have answered some of my questions in your chief, so I'm not...

So given that it is not required for remote reading and for TOU pricing, it is really an enabling technology to provide more information back to consumers, and to allow them to make more rational choices for conservation or load shifting; is that correct? 

MR. WENINGER:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And so from our perspective, is the ZigBee chip not really a smart grid component, as opposed to a smart meter component? 

MR. WENINGER:  That is one way of looking at it, but again, when we were going through the smart meter deployment, there was no concept or discussion around the development of a smart grid or a Green Energy Act plan. 

We went through our smart meter procurement process at the time, and recognized that, yes, this was something above minimum functionality.  But we felt long-term it was the right thing to do. 

The technology itself, there is no cost benefit just for the ZigBee chip itself.  It does require a downstream application in order to really take advantage of it. 

But by the nature of it being embedded within the network communications card inside the smart meter, the logistics of introducing the technology after the fact, many years later, in our mind made it very expensive, and it would have been a shame not to have included it as part of the original procurement and deployment.

We feel that this particular vehicle is a much more cost-effective vehicle for getting that type of technology out in the broader community than it would have been ad hoc, piecemeal, after the fact.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay, thanks.  So I am now going to move to in-home display, the in-home display messaging project.

I should mention there were some references that I could have made to the compendium, but I am not sure that it was necessary for the ZigBee chip questions, and I will have some more questions related to the ZigBee chip later for an alternate purpose.

But Board Staff has prepared a cross-examination compendium, and, if I can, I would like to mark it.  I do want to mention everything in here is, of course, otherwise in the record at some point.  It is just for convenience purposes, for reference purposes, except for page 52 -- pages 52 and 53, which is an excerpt from Toronto Hydro's 2010 annual report.

That has been filed in other hearings before the Board, and I just wanted to make that note so that I don't mislead people.

Subject to any objections that any of my colleagues would have, I will mark the entire book.  Hearing none, I will mark it as Exhibit K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  BOARD STAFF CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.

MS. SEBALJ:  So with respect to the in-home display messaging project, if you could turn to pages 4 and 5 of the compendium, which is Technical Conference Question No. 42, in response to the question of whether, for the basic in-home display, minimum functionality.  And we're using the term "minimum functionality" - I think Guelph has also used it, but not to be confused with O.Reg. 425, minimum functionality - of displaying basic energy consumption, and pricing information can be achieved without the installation of the back office support that is estimated to cost $479,000 in 2012.

So I believe that you gave us that answer at the technical conference; is that correct?

MR. WENINGER:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And just for the Panel's reference and for the record, the estimated cost of $479,000 in 2012 is shown on -- in Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 6, appendix D of the evidence.

Specifically, Guelph Hydro stated:
"This is to confirm that the basic in-home display minimum functionality can be accomplished without the installation of the additional back-office hardware and software." 

And also at that same -- in that same technical conference question, we also asked whether the in-home display system needs to be integrated to interface with the Guelph AMI in order to yield the desired results.

And the answer in that technical conference question was 

"The in-home display Messaging project requires a separate hardware and software system in addition to the smart meter AMI system.  The additional IHD messaging system must be interfaced to the existing smart metering AMI to access the smart meter database and wireless fields communication network." 

Is that correct?

MR. WENINGER:  That is correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And then in Board Staff IR No. 86(d), which is in your compendium I believe starting at page 19.  Question (d) was:
"In the event that IHDs..."

Which is in-home displays:
"...are not included in, and/or not funded through, the OPA CDM Program, please explain whether Guelph will proceed with the IHD Messaging Project.  If Guelph Hydro will proceed, how does Guelph Hydro intend to fund the IHD devices?"


And your answer, in part, was:
"Following release of the OPA demand response program schedule, we confirm that IHDs will be funded to a maximum per unit cost as determined by the OPA through the CDM program.  Although for this application, this project is designed as a pilot to understand how best to utilize the technology to provide value to the customer, we recognize that for this to truly become a community-wide messaging tool, we will ultimately require the majority of Guelph Hydro customers to participate in the IHD program, and we recognize that it may be difficult to achieve this level of penetration of IHDs through the CDM program enrolment alone." 

And then, finally, also by way of preamble, the DSP -- sorry, the distribution plan filing requirements, which can be found at the compendium pages 22 and 23, restricts smart grid projects to smart grid demonstration projects.

So just so that we can better understand the scope and the eligibility for rate funding of this project, is Guelph Hydro of the view that behind the meter activities, like the IHD messaging, should be funded by -- as a distribution activity?

MR. WENINGER:  Sorry, could you repeat the question?

MS. SEBALJ:  Is Guelph Hydro of the view that behind the meter activities, like the in-home display messaging, should be funded as a distribution activity?

MR. MILES:  I will respond to that, if you don't mind.

MS. SEBALJ:  Sure.

MR. MILES:  We believe that what we've applied for in the Green Energy Act plan should be funded as a pilot, as a test, to see where this is going to go.

We ultimately don't know what the business model is that makes sense, but we have to start somewhere.  And, ultimately, the model could be funded by other application service providers, energy service providers.  We're prepared to open up our network for a fee, if that, you know, makes sense.

But at this point, we have to get started with this pilot project, if you will, to better understand what the ultimate business model is going to be.

MS. SEBALJ:  But the cost of $479,000 is a cost for a full back office that would support a full rollout of the in-home display messaging project; is that correct?

MR. MILES:  That's correct.  And, unfortunately, you can't buy a back office that would just support a smaller number.  It is kind of an all-or-nothing expenditure.

MS. SEBALJ:  And so just to follow up on what you said, you talked about third-party providers.

MR. MILES:  Mm-hm.

MS. SEBALJ:  Has Guelph considered or has Guelph entered into discussions with third-party providers for behind the meter services?

MR. MILES:  Not at this time, no.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can you give us a breakdown of how much the in-home display messaging service would be used for each of -- I am going to name four things, so you might want to either write them or take this as an undertaking.  I am not sure which is better for you.

Core distribution business, as an example, outage management, but I am sure there are other distribution business support that the IHD would provide; consumer energy management services, other than designated CDM activities.

CDM activities is the third, and the fourth is other third-party messaging services.  You have mentioned, you know, snow days, municipal alerts, amber alerts, that sort of thing.

Is there a way to provide the Board, the Panel, with a breakdown of the percentage use of each of these activities -- for each of these activities?

MR. WENINGER:  At this time, my sense is it is too early to provide a clear breakdown.  We have experimented with in-home displays bench tested in our meter shop, and because we don't have the ability to send messages, we don't understand restrictions, we don't understand capabilities, we don't understand what mechanisms we have to go through to create the message and push it out.

We don't have an idea of how we can filter messages to going to different sets of constituents.

It's a little premature to try and partition what messages would go to what potential customers down the road.  That's part of the reason for wanting to take this to a pilot stage, so we can explore that and can prove that it works.

MS. SEBALJ:  And so if I changed the question to what you intend to use it for, does that help at all, as opposed to what you will use it for?

MR. WENINGER:  At a high level, we just identified potential community-based customers.

We haven't apportioned where we would likely spend the time messaging.

We did plan on doing a more in-depth survey of some of our customer base, to better understand what would be of benefit to them.

We did complete a survey of Guelph Hydro employees and retirees, and the learnings out of that were interesting, but those employees are also somewhat biased.

So we feel there would be some value in doing a survey of Guelph residents, to better understand what would really be of value to them.  We haven't done that yet.

MS. SEBALJ:  Does Guelph Hydro intend to go ahead with the project, even if the Board denies recovery in this case?

MR. WENINGER:  Denies recovery of the back office hardware and software?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, the 479,000.

MR. WENINGER:  Do you?

MR. MILES:  The answer is we don't know.  We would have to take that back and re-evaluate whether we would proceed or not.

MS. SEBALJ:  So still on the in-home display messaging project, I am just going to ask some questions with respect to the demarcation between CDM and smart grid, just to give you an idea of where I am going with these.

So during the technical conference, page 65 of the transcript, which is at the compendium at page 24, Guelph Hydro stated -- let me just find where.

It is the second full paragraph.  Mr. Weninger, on page 24, said:

"So the ZigBee chip should let us procure more elaborate in-home displays, so hopefully they will be able to provide that functionality within the threshold provided by the CDM program."

And then went on to say:
 "This only holds true to the point of view that the uptake of the in-home display is likely not going to be anywhere near as large as we would like, by virtue of the conservation program on its own."

So can you confirm for us that the 479,000 in capital expenditures in 2012, and OM&A of $92,000 for 2013 to 2015 is the complete cost of the in-home display project?  Not considering the cost of the actual display units?

MR. WENINGER:  Yes.  We anticipate the cost and installation of the in-home display units initially would be funded by the OPA's conservation program, and the back office hardware/software and integration with the existing AMI system, as well as licensing fees and ongoing operational support of the software, are included as part of that project.  Correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  So you are not anticipating any other incremental costs at a later stage for the project?

MR. WENINGER:  We are not anticipating any other incremental at this point in time, no.

MS. SEBALJ:  And is it your intention to count the results of the in-home display project toward your CDM target?

MR. WENINGER:  That raises a question.  We are not sure that the OPA has nor will allocate CDM targets as a result of the installation of an in-home display.

The OPA will make that determination.  We don't know that the rollout of in-home displays as part of the residential demand response will actually result in attribution of -- towards CDM targets.

The demand response portion of the OPA program, we know will.  The in-home display, we don't know at this point in time.

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry.  I had a number of questions that related to certainty around the answer to that question, that related back to the CDM Code, but given that you are not certain whether this will count towards the target, I can't -- I don't think it would be fair to ask those questions.

In Technical Conference Question No. 41(d), which is at page 9 and 10 of the compendium, Guelph Hydro stated that it would use –- and I think you have also said this this morning -- would use a not-for-profit model for third-party use of the system at this point in time.

Then in the technical conference, at pages 14 and 15 of the compendium, which is page 68 of the actual transcript, Mr. Weninger, you said that:

"Guelph Hydro does not foresee any charges to any of the participants while building the system, but is envisioning a cost recovery when Guelph Hydro gets to the point where there is multiple parties actually using the back office system for messaging."

Does Guelph Hydro think it is appropriate for an affiliate or other third parties to use a distribution asset on a not-for-profit basis?

MR. WENINGER:  Sorry, could you repeat that question again?

MS. SEBALJ:  I am just asking whether the utility has thought about whether it is appropriate for an affiliate or a third party to use a distribution asset on a not-for-profit basis.  I am thinking of the Affiliate Relationships Code.

MR. MILES:  At this point, we don't believe that there is any incremental cost in using the asset, the ZigBee chip.  And we propose to limit it to not-for-profit types of activities, such as community messaging and whatnot.

If we were to evolve this to a different kind of a business model in the future, that I spoke of earlier, then, yes, we think it is appropriate that we would charge something for that service.

But at this point, for the pilot, you know, we need to understand what the business model potentially is.

MS. SEBALJ:  I mean, you can see where we're going with this, is that even on a not-for-profit basis there is a capital cost and OM&A that is being asked for payment from the ratepayer, and that even on a pilot basis, if people, if third parties are getting some advantage, even on a not-for-profit basis, there may be, in Board Staff's view, a violation of the Affiliate Relationships Code.

So I am just putting that out there.  Obviously it is more of a legal argument than anything else, unless you have a comment.

Can you explain at what point in time Guelph Hydro intends to charge for messaging services provided to its shareholders or other third parties?

MR. MILES:  As I mentioned, it's a little bit premature to determine that right now.

We need to understand what the interest level is for these devices and what the uptake is.

That could take a year to 18 months, probably.

MS. SEBALJ:  And what costs do you anticipate would be recovered under this concept?

MR. MILES:  Again, that depends on the interest and the uptake and the details around the business model, but we would hope that the entire costs could ultimately be recovered.

MS. SEBALJ:  So when you say "the entire costs" it would be the ongoing back office system?

MR. MILES:  Back office system, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Including capital costs?

MR. MILES:  Capital costs of the back office system, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And what about the costs for the ZigBee chip itself?

MR. MILES:  Well, as we'd proposed, we proposed that that be part of the overall smart meter cost, because when we made the decision to purchase the ZigBee chip, it was before the Green Energy Act plan was in existence.

So to us, it was just part of the smart meter cost all along.

MS. SEBALJ:  Would you agree with me that services such as community weather warnings or school closures and some of the other messaging that you discussed in your evidence can also be provided through other means?  Radio, television, the way we all figure out whether it is a snow day?

MR. MILES:  Yes, absolutely.

MS. SEBALJ:  So it is not -- this in-home display messaging service isn't new.  It is just really a substitute means of delivering an existing message; is that correct?

MR. MILES:  We view the -- the primary purpose of the in-home display, from our perspective, is to help people reduce their energy use and learn more about, you know, what is costing them money for electricity.

The addition of messaging is really a bit like icing on the cake, to get them to use the device and to go check on the device more often than they otherwise would.  So that's the connection there.

MS. SEBALJ:  And I guess that goes back to what I asked earlier, and I realize you are not in a position to give hard percentages, but it would be really helpful, I think if, there was a possibility of knowing even what your primary purpose -- you know, if you are planning to -- the primary purpose is for a distribution activity, but these are, as you say, icing on the cake sort of services, because it is difficult at this point for Board Staff to come up with some -- some view of how much of this is distribution activity and how much of it is third-party activity.

Do you know, by any chance, to follow on on my question of radio and television being able to provide these messages, whether there are any charges with associated with messaging on radio and television for community-type announcements?

MR. MILES:  I am not familiar with all of the various practices that, you know, radio and TV use for that.  Sorry.

MS. SEBALJ:  And until there is a wide rollout of the in-home displays, what is the real benefit of these third-party message services?  You may have answered this question, now that I think about it.

But to my mind, if there is only sort of 5 percent of the homes that have in-home displays, presumably the broader community is not going to be relying on the in-home displays for these messages?

MR. MILES:  You're right.  The real value in our whole vision here is to have every home equipped with one of these devices, but we have to start somewhere.

MS. SEBALJ:  Right.  So, essentially you, are training people to go to the in-home display as opposed to turning on the radio?

MR. MILES:  Correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And just to follow on on this, presuming, for the purpose of today's hearing, that communities don't pay radio and television broadcasters for these messages, would there be an incentive, do you think, for them, or have you spoken to them about potentially paying for messages in the in-home display?

MR. MILES:  We have not spoken to them about potentially paying for messages, but we have spoken to the city about, you know, the idea of using it to get messages out there.

MS. MANNERS:  If I could make a couple of comments from a communications standpoint?   So the in-home messaging is just another channel to the audience for public service announcements, particularly around snow days, that sort of thing.

What would be advantageous for the school boards is knowing who the audience is.  So when you broadcast on radio, you are getting a whole region, whereas they would know it is just people who live in Guelph.  So it is a little bit more convenient for the school boards, for example.

For the parents who are waiting for the information to come across on the radio, it is a little bit more convenient, as well, because it would be right there in your kitchen and you don't have to wait for the next newscast for them to tell you.  So it is just a little bit more convenient for people.

And then the other part is that what we would be doing with the messaging is driving people to the in-home display unit, as you said, to get people to use it more often.

So whether it is the temperature outside or it's other information they would look at frequently, it just encourages people to look at it and, oh, by the way, they also were looking at what their energy demand is in their home right at that moment.  So it is training people to go to the in-home display unit to frequently look at that information.

So right now we do know people look at their thermostats, but only if they want to change the temperature.  So what we want people to do is look at it more frequently, and the idea would be to have it in the kitchen, on the counter, in a hallway, beside the door, that sort of thing, where it is really easily available for people to see.

MS. SEBALJ:  My next question was going to have to do with determining a cost allocation methodology for third-party services and a resulting user fee, but given your previous answers, I am assuming you haven't gotten that far in the analysis?

MR. MILES:  No.

MR. WENINGER:  No.

MS. SEBALJ:  So moving on to the smart grid/smart home project, can you just provide for the Panel's purposes a bit more detail on the Transatlantic Urban Climate Dialogue workshop conference?  And, specifically, I think it is 2012-2013.

But, specifically, what is the length of the conference?  I know there is a mention in Board Staff IR 93 that they're talking about a June 2012 workshop, but I don't think we have a whole lot more information about the scope of this event.

MS. MANNERS:  Sure.  So this is a Transatlantic Urban Climate Change Dialogue, and what it is is a conference that has been organized by some organizations in Germany and the United States, and the City of Guelph has been requested to participate as the only locale in Canada.

And the exchange of information is around climate change and urban planning, as well as various other energy conservation initiatives, that sort of thing.

The audience is politicians, academics, energy experts, architects, those sorts of folks, anybody interested in urban planning and climate change.

The plan is to have four sessions.  We have already had the first one, which I attended recently in October.  And the plan is to do site visits in two locations in Germany, one in the United States in Washington, and then in Guelph.

And so the plan is to show people what has been done in various parts of the world with regard to climate change and energy conservation.

So Guelph is slated to be the last locale, and that would be in 2012.

MS. SEBALJ:  Do you know when in 2012?

MS. MANNERS:  They don't have the exact date, but probably in the early part of the year.

MS. SEBALJ:  And so what does this site visit look like?  What are you planning to showcase?

MS. MANNERS:  So if we have the smart home exhibit ready by that point, then that would be part of the site visit.  But, in addition to that, we could show them district energy locations.  We could take them to Niagara Falls, various different places.

So with the first session in Germany, we were taken to a number of different locations, a hydrogen plant, some residential areas that have been refurbished for energy conservation measures, an information hub that they have in the centre of town where people go to to talk with energy advisors to get information about energy conservation initiatives in their community.

So it is really showcasing whatever is available within the community that would speak to how you educate the public around climate change and how to get people to change their behaviour.

MS. SEBALJ:  And so --


MS. MANNERS:  So the demonstration project, the idea of tagging this on to the transatlantic conference was an add-on.  That is not our main purpose in doing it.  The main purpose in doing it is to educate the consumers in our locale.

It just so happened that around the time we were writing this, we were invited to attend the Transatlantic Climate Change Dialogue.  And we thought, Well, there is a good site for people to visit to show them what we're actually doing, because it would be a collection of what is happening in Ontario.

MS. SEBALJ:  And is the intention, then, to attempt to get the smart home built and completed for --


MS. MANNERS:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And has anything happened in that respect?

MS. MANNERS:  Have we started the project?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, have you started the project?

MS. MANNERS:  No.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And what Guelph Hydro resources are being committed to the conference?

MS. MANNERS:  Just the attendance at the conference at this stage of the game.

MS. SEBALJ:  Presumably that would change depending on what happens in terms of the site visit?

MS. MANNERS:  So the conference is really specific to the City of Guelph.  So we are a part of the delegation with the City of Guelph, so we are not the lead here.

MS. SEBALJ:  During the technical conference, at page 55 of the transcript, page 34 of the compendium, Guelph Hydro stated that these initiatives -- and I take that to mean the smart grid projects:
"... have links in, ties in, with the City of Guelph's community energy initiative, which has some very aggressive conservation targets for all forms of energy, not just electricity..." 

Further on, Guelph Hydro states that the demonstration home would definitely be one of the elements of the conference and sort of a tie-in with that.

When asked about ratepayers' obligation toward the community initiative on page 35 of the compendium, Mr. Weninger said that the ratepayers are city customers of Guelph Hydro and they are City of Guelph and Rockwood residents.

So can you just summarize for us what the benefits of the smart home project are for Guelph Hydro's ratepayers?

MS. MANNERS:  So the purpose of the smart home demonstration project is really education and awareness for the average consumer.

So it is teaching them about smart grids, smart meters, smart appliances, electric vehicle charging stations.  This is all new technology to the average consumer, and there is a lot of education required to give people a view to the future of what we can expect to see over the next few years.

Also renewable energy.  So the house would presumably have solar panels on the roof, that sort of thing.

So the average consumer needs as much help as they can get in learning about how all of these affect our lives, because it is the day-to-day lives that we're talking about here.

So there are other smart home demonstration projects in North America.  There is one in Los Angeles, there is one in Houston, there is one in Chicago.  And what they use them for in those communities is to -- again, education.  People come through, school trips come through, people from other countries come through, just to see what the technology is doing.

It is like a science centre on a small scale, where you are teaching people what the new technology is going to look like, and allowing them to touch and feel it. 

So for example, you might have a kitchen set up, where you would have the in-home messaging display unit on the kitchen wall, so people would be able to see what that looks like.  They would be able to see what smart appliances look like, and then there could be a docent there to explain, well, what do smart appliances do anyway, because people don't know.

So they would be able to understand what the benefits are with smart appliances that may be small appliances, whether it is a coffee maker that is energy efficient and turns on and off according to off-peak demand times, that sort of thing. 

Then there is charging systems for electric vehicles.  There are only a few around out there at the moment, but people are really interested in electric vehicles, so there is your way of educating people what a smart grid is about.  It is a really easy in for people, because they're interested in the technology.

So if there is a garage area in the smart home demonstration project, well, then you can show people what a charging system will look like in your garage and how it would actually work, and how your smart meter will be able to -- with the ZigBee chip, will be able to communicate with the charging system to only charge your car during off-peak times, if that is what you want. 

So it's -- people are concerned about the big brother mentality, that you have some sort of a system that is controlling your life.  And what this sort of a demonstration project does is it makes it palatable and makes it understandable for people, that they can see:  Oh, well, that looks like my kitchen, and the appliances just are a little bit smarter than the ones I have now. 

MS. SEBALJ:  And have you been to the other North American sites? 

MS. MANNERS:  I have been to the one in Chicago and the one in Los Angeles, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And presumably, if they are done, the Guelph Hydro one would be incremental with newer technologies than are in those smart homes; is that fair?

MS. MANNERS:  Or different technologies.  So for example, in Los Angeles they have different rate plans.  And so the one that we would intend on building would include our own rate plans.

There could be some experimental plans, as well, more information of where we could go with this sort of thing in the future. 

MS. SEBALJ:  Do you know whether in the other jurisdictions -- do you know how the smart homes are funded?  Are they ratepayer-funded, do you know, or taxpayer-funded or...

MS. MANNERS:  Southern California Edison, to be honest, I don't know.  I -- I really don't. 

MS. SEBALJ:  And so just to follow on that, would the -– the smart home, I believe, in the evidence, would be funded entirely by Guelph Hydro's -- by Guelph Hydro and therefore the ratepayer; is that correct? 

MS. MANNERS:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And is there a reason that, given that this is a community initiative, that it is not some hybrid or entirely paid by the community, the taxpayer as opposed to the ratepayer? 

MS. MANNERS:  By the taxpayer? 

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  In other words, it is a community project.  I have heard that the conference, for instance, is, you know, Guelph -- Guelph Hydro is attending, but it is the city that is the delegate. 

MS. MANNERS:  Oh, I see.

MS. SEBALJ:  And as a, you know -- school groups are going to be going through here, and it is like a science centre.  And so it sounds to me like, at least partially, a community initiative. 

So has Guelph Hydro turned its mind to whether or to what extent the City should be funding all or part of it? 

MR. MILES:  We haven't explored that with the City at this time. 

MS. SEBALJ:  In the update to Exhibit 2, tab 4, schedule 6, tables 1 to 3, which is at page 38 of the compendium, Guelph Hydro shows zero -- no capital expenditures in OM&A.  And OM&A of $45,000 in 2012, $130,000 in 2013, $55,000 in 2014 and $10,000 in 2015; is that correct? 

MS. BIRCEANU:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  How much of these costs are related to staffing the demonstration home and providing tours or demonstrations? 

MS. MANNERS:  We would have to go back and refer to our table. 

MR. WENINGER:  We can get you an update after a break. 

MS. SEBALJ:  Sure.  That would be helpful.  Thank you. 

And can you explain the increase of -- by my math, is about 188 percent in OM&A in 2013, and then the subsequent drop to 10,000 in 2015? 

MR. WENINGER:  The -- again, I can provide better details after the break, but it was related to the design/build and then commissioning and staffing, and then towards the end of the project, sort of a wind-down.

And then presumably the home would be sold off by the builder, and the project is done. 

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  I was going to ask you that. 

Is Guelph Hydro intending to provide additional manpower during the conference, person power during the conference?

MS. MANNERS:  Well the conference itself, again, is an add-on.  It is a separate piece.  It doesn't really have a great deal to do with the smart home demonstration project, because the demonstration home would be there anyway.

So our involvement with the conference would really be just as attendees, and then as hosts to perhaps assist in determining where they might be visiting, so the site visits that would be included in the conference.

We might provide speakers, that sort of thing, but it would be pretty small, our involvement, in general. 

MS. SEBALJ:  And what lessons does Guelph Hydro expect to learn from this demonstration project, and how do you think it will impact your operations in the future? 

MS. MANNERS:  The lessons that we would expect to learn were included in part of our submission.  Just a moment. 

Page 44.  Our page 44.  Thank you. 

MS. SEBALJ:  Of the Green Energy Act plan? 

MR. WENINGER:  No.  No.  Just an internal --


MS. MANNERS:  Sorry.  We would be serving visitors, so that would be our main measurement.  So when people come through the demonstration home, we would ask them some questions, and so we would find out what they learned, how what they learned will change their behaviour, conserving electricity in their homes - because a lot of this is around behaviour changes - their level of interest in in-home display units, smart appliances, electric vehicles, home automation systems, the specifics regarding in-home display units, what they like about them, what other information they would like to see on them, that sort of thing. 

And we would also be able to refer visitors interested in making changes in their homes to conserve electricity to appropriate locations; for example, to the OPA site to obtain coupons, or we could give them out there, OPA program information and advice and consultation. 

We would also plan to measure click-throughs, shall we call them, resulting from the smart home through to purchase, or another action that will result in the saving of energy. 

We would also collect high-level statistical information regarding the number of visitors, demographics, the number of tour groups, the number of visits from people from outside of Canada.

The smart home would also be featured on the Guelph Hydro and City of Guelph websites, and website traffic would also be monitored and reported on to determine the level of interest in the project. 

In Los Angeles, what I found was particularly interesting was that you had to book times to see the smart home, and they were overbooked and they just could not believe the amount of interest that they were getting from all over North America, because it was one of the few at the time I visited.

So we would expect to see a same high level of interest in something like this, because people are hungry for information, because they want information that is specific to their lives, and this is really palatable to them, to be able to see an actual home, what it looks like and how these technologies will affect their day-to-day lives.

MS. SEBALJ:  And in any of the other jurisdictions, has anything been done to sort of translate visits and viewings of the home into actual activity, behavioural change or initiatives taken by individuals to seek out these technologies?

MS. MANNERS:  I wouldn't know.  I would expect they are measuring that, though. 

MS. SEBALJ:  And does Guelph Hydro intend to --


MS. MANNERS:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  -- attempt to measure that?

MS. MANNERS:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  I'm not sure -- not being a statistician, I am not sure you would measure it, but presumably there are ways.

MS. MANNERS:  There are ways to do follow-up, phone calls to ask people, you know, three months after they have been:  What sort of changes have you made?  We do telephone surveys anyway, so we would ask those sorts of questions.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you for that.  Moving on to the electric vehicle pilot -- and I am not sure, Panel.  For your purposes, I probably have -- I have questions about the electric vehicle pilot, and then some rate adder questions, but I am probably going to be another half hour.

MS. TAYLOR:  Why don't we take a 15-minute break now?  And I am not sure if there are any other -- well, it is 11:30, so why don't you if finish up before lunch.  We can break for lunch, and then finish up with anyone else who has any additional questions after lunch.  Is everyone on board with that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I only expect to have ten minutes.

MS. TAYLOR:  Ten minutes?  Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  I have about five to ten minutes, specific to the smart meter riders.  So maybe we can slip those in.

MS. TAYLOR:  So subject to our court reporter, can we push through and finish up before taking any break at all?  All right.  Let's push through, then.

MS. SEBALJ:  I will try to be quick.

So on the electric vehicle pilot, just to give you some background and context, in Interrogatory Response No. 90, which starts at page 39 of the compendium, in response to question (a), Guelph Hydro indicated that it conducted a great deal of research into electric vehicle strategies and plans of other utilities, and that such research took the form of conversations, face-to-face meetings, site visits to view charging stations, reviews of documents case studies, presentations and website content, studying of electric vehicle surveys and attendance at conferences and workshops.

Guelph Hydro also indicated that it carried out research on 15 utilities and suppliers of charging equipment in North America and Europe, including three Ontario distributors, Toronto Hydro, Hydro One and Burlington Hydro.

In response to question (b) of that same interrogatory, Guelph Hydro didn't provide -- did not provide a summary of its experiences addressing the items listed at page 19 of the distribution system planning filing requirements, which are the six bullets listed under smart grid demonstration project, and, instead, referred to the 15 utilities and suppliers of charging equipment and related websites.

So essentially what -- I have a few questions related to -- there is a bit of a confused record as to how much background research has been done with respect to the electric vehicle project, as well as some questions around potential duplication.

So in Exhibit B1, tab 5, schedule 1, page 2, which is the Toronto Hydro -- sorry, Exhibit B1, tab 5, schedule 1 of Toronto Hydro's filing in EB-2011-0144 which is the page I referenced when we marked the compendium K1.2, and which is -- an excerpt of which is at page 52 of the compendium, this is the Toronto Hydro's 2010 annual report.

Toronto Hydro describes an electric vehicle project that was introduced in 2010.  And, specifically, if you look at page 52, the third paragraph down, beginning:
"Our award winning CDM programs exceeded targets once again.  New in 2010 was the introduction of Canada's first electric vehicle pilot program involving retail automobile customers called the Toronto Hydro Smart Experience.  This project is being undertaken in cooperation with Mercedes-Benz Canada.  Fifteen customers will lease Mercedes-Benz Smart ForTwo electric vehicle, and we will study their changing..."

Pardon me:
"...their charging and driving habits over a four-year period.  This project will provide us with valuable information about the impact that typical commuter electric vehicles will have on our distribution grid.  Importantly, we have now entered into an agreement with the Ontario Power Authority to deliver ongoing CDM programs through 2014 in the amount of approximately 50 million..."


Fifty million dollars.

Has Guelph reviewed this material?

MS. MANNERS:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And have you considered whether your proposed pilot results in duplication of Toronto Hydro's project?

MS. MANNERS:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And what are the results of that consideration?

MS. MANNERS:  The pilot project that Toronto Hydro is working on, they're involved with Pollution Probe in structuring the project.

They have a number of different objectives.  Specifically, from what it appears to us, is one of their objectives has to do with their distribution system, that they have some concerns about, if they have a lot of electric vehicles starting to hook in in certain neighbourhoods, their distribution system may not be robust enough to accommodate that.

We don't have the same sort of problems in Guelph.  So our electric vehicle pilot project would be focussing on other outcomes.  There are some other differences within their project compared to what ours would be planned to encompass.

So theirs is focussed on the Mercedes-Benz Smart ForTwo electric vehicle.  Ours would not be specific particular to any particular manufacturer of electric vehicles.

The Smart ForTwo car is a very small car and it is really made for short distance commutes within an urban setting.

The electric vehicles that are out there.  I believe, for example, the Volt would be another one with an extended range electric vehicle.  Because ours wouldn't be specific to any particular manufacturer, people could be driving whatever electric vehicle they chose to.

The habits, the driving habits, are probably different between Toronto and Guelph.  So Toronto, you would probably have people going further commuting distances than you have in Guelph, and that was one of the things we discovered in our survey, that although personally I thought that we were a bedroom community of Toronto, we're not really, because the university is located in Guelph.  There are a lot of businesses in the Kitchener-Waterloo area, Mississauga.  So people are not actually commuting very far.

There are also a lot of families that are two-car families, so an electric vehicle could be the second car that could be used perhaps by the homemaker taking children to school, going shopping, that sort of thing.  So a slightly different market.

So I think the research that we would be discovering from our pilot project would be specific to the Guelph community as opposed to a large metropolitan environment like Toronto.

The other portion of our project would be that we would be interested in doing research on behalf of the province into various different rate plans, and that is not mentioned in the Toronto Hydro project.

So in California, for example, they have a number of different rate plans for electric vehicles specific to people who have electric vehicles.  We don't know if the Board is interested in experimenting with that, but certainly that would be something that we would be willing to assist with.

Then the other part is the fleet piece, that Guelph Hydro would be interested in taking the lead in being a model for fleets, doing some research around electric vehicles that can be vans.

So we would be interested in purchasing a cube van for our fleet and showing people that that's also a possibility.

Marketing out in the advertising world is being focussed on the Volt and the Nissan Leaf for the average consumer, but you don't see any advertising for fleets, and we think it is important to include that in making sure that the consumers are aware that these can be used for fleets, as well.

So lots of differences.

MS. SEBALJ:  So having heard that, would it be accurate to characterize Guelph Hydro's EV pilot as more sort of consumer focussed as opposed to focussed on the distribution -- impacts on the distribution system?

MS. MANNERS:  I would say so, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  So the lessons that you intend to learn from this have to do with consumer behaviour as opposed to --


MS. MANNERS:  Consumer behaviour, certainly with the rate plans, that would be one piece of it.

MS. SEBALJ:  And do you -- do you have any similar sort of contrasts or differences with respect to the Hydro One and Burlington Hydro discussions that you may have had or materials you may have researched?

MS. MANNERS:  Yes.  GridSmartCity is the initiative that Burlington Hydro is working on.

They have a couple of charging systems established, and they do have an electric vehicle, but it was a custom-made one.  So it was done before electric vehicles came on the market here in Ontario.  It's a little bit different there.

One of the areas I didn't mention was the charging systems themselves.  There are a lot of different ones, and, within the industry, new charging systems are coming out all the time.

So there is Cologne Technologies.  There is the GE Watt Station.  To be honest, I am not sure which one Toronto is going with, but it was only one of them.  But we would be exploring which one would be the best one for us to be demonstrating.

There is also the settlement piece, which is a big question behind the scenes of how -- how these are going to be -- how people are going to get the charges.

So if you are charging at a shopping small mall, for example, who is paying for that electricity?  If you are charging at a GO station, how is that working?  If you are charging on the street at a parking -- what would normally be a car parking meter, but if you are charging on the street, how does that work?


So there are lots of unanswered questions, and I think there is a lot of room in all sorts of demonstration projects to start looking at all of those questions.

So for us, the consumer, though, is the key piece. 

MS. SEBALJ:  And what, if any, of the -- are there any answers to some of these questions in other jurisdictions, other -- outside of Ontario?


MS. MANNERS:  Certainly some of the other jurisdictions are further ahead than Ontario.  Because electric vehicles have been on the market a little bit longer in the United States, they're a little bit further along.  Certainly California is right out in front, I would say.

But in Canada, BC is quite far ahead, as well.  They have a whole complete strategy written for electric vehicles.


So there is a lot of information out there, and we have done a fair bit of reading and talking to people. 

MS. SEBALJ:  So moving on to the rate adder calculation, on November 23rd, you, of course, refiled your GEA plan.  And the summary table 2, which is at page 38 of the compendium, it doesn't show any OM&A costs for the renewable generator connection upgrades. 

So that is table 2, the first line, renewable generator connection upgrades, and it is zero all the way across.  However, the renewable generator connection adder calculation, which is at the compendium, page 59, shows an OM&A of -- let me just pull it up so I am saying the right thing -- of 65,256 -- sorry, 250 –- no –- yes, in 2012, 82,650 in 2013, 91,350 in 2014, and 104,400 in 2015.

And then of course at page 3 of the Report of the Board, "Framework for Determining the Direct Benefits Accruing to Customers of a Distributor under O.Reg. 330.09," which is at page 60 of the compendium, says -– defines:

"Eligible investment costs as set out in O.Reg. 330.09 and Section 79.15 of the act are not limited to only the initial capital investment costs, but also includes the upfront OM&A costs necessary for the purpose of enabling the connection of a qualifying generation facility.
 However, given that section 79.1 focuses solely on the initial investment, ongoing OM&A costs that are incurred by the distributor after the investment has been made will not be eligible for provincial recovery."

So can you please confirm that Guelph Hydro is seeking OM&A costs for renewable generation?

MS. BIRCEANU:  I confirm. 

MS. SEBALJ:  And that is in accordance with the rate adder calculations at page 59 of the compendium? 

MS. BIRCEANU:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  So does that mean that the table at page 38 should be corrected? 

MR. QUESNELLE:  I believe your microphone is switched off. 

MS. BIRCEANU:  It's on now, yes.  So...

MR. WENINGER:  I believe you are correct.  There's a discrepancy between the background working documents and what made its way into table 2 on the compendium, page 38.  You are correct. 

MS. SEBALJ:  And that is helpful.  Thank you.

So that would just be -- those numbers would be transposed on to that table, starting at 2012, 65,250; is that correct? 

MR. WENINGER:  Yes, that's correct. 

MS. SEBALJ:  How much of the OM&A amounts shown in the rate adder calculation are upfront OM&A costs, and how much are ongoing OM&A costs?  Are you able to provide that? 

MR. WENINGER:  The 2012 through 2015 OM&A costs are essentially internal resources dealing with new FIT and microFIT connection requests.  Those are based on estimates of the number of connections required and the amount of effort required to deal with the new connection requests. 

MS. SEBALJ:  So in Guelph Hydro's view, then, those are all upfront OM&A costs? 

MR. WENINGER:  Upfront for new projects as they come on over the years.  Correct. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Sebalj, can I ask for some clarity as to what -- perhaps give an example of how you differentiate between an upfront OM&A cost versus an ongoing OM&A cost, the nature of the two, the difference. 

MR. WENINGER:  We had provided tables elsewhere in the evidence that identified the anticipated number of new connection requests for FIT and microFIT, and the OM&A identified in the table, that is missing in table 2, is essentially part of a smart grid technician that is identified in the Green Energy Act, and part of that smart grid technician's responsibility would be dealing with new connection requests.

And we have identified a number of new connection requests every year, starting in 2011, going through 2015.

So that resource is intended to deal with, respond to, resolve the new connection requests.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That's helpful.  Thanks. 

MS. TAYLOR:  You may be gearing up to ask my question, but I will ask it.  

There did not appear to be an update through the evidence to reflect the fact that both the FIT pricing in terms of conditions of the whole program are under review. 

I am not sure if you were going to ask that question or not, but perhaps you would undertake to update -- you said there was a table missing from page 38 of Board Staff's compendium that would have been in your original filing. 

I am assuming that you will have revised the renewable energy connections, FIT, microFIT, now pursuant to the announced review of that -- of those programs.  And if you haven't, then perhaps you could explain why the numbers are staying the same, when there is considerable uncertainty over whether or not these projects will go ahead. 

MR. WENINGER:  Yes.  No, we haven't taken into consideration the announcement of the review of the program.

What is missing from compendium page 38, table 2 are the OM&A numbers associated with the original anticipated number of connection requests. 

MS. TAYLOR:  Just to follow on, one of those is quite large.  I am assuming, then, that the programs or projects that you have, that are not yet on page 38, is it fair to say that none of those planned connections have definitive contracts at this point?  In other words, they would not be subject to the outcome of that review in terms of change in price, or terms and conditions?

MR. WENINGER:  I don't have the details with me.  That is something we would have to go back and take a look at.

We know some of the connection requests have contracts.  Some do not.  And the table of anticipated connections was built up based on our knowledge of local customers, contractors, consultants that were pursuing projects in town.

MS. TAYLOR:  So could we get an undertaking to update that list, please? 

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry.  I don't want to answer for you, but I did want to –- Ms. Armstrong just reminded me that the changes to the table 2 on page 38 will, I think, impact the rest of the table as well, in terms of the totals. 

So if you could just have a look at that whole table to make sure that the math is correct, once you update it for the OM&A piece?

MR. WENINGER:  Yes.  Will do.

MS. SEBALJ:  We will make that part of an undertaking, J1.1, but also as an add-on, the Panel request to update your list of projects in light of the OPA-announced review of the FIT and microFIT programs.

MR. WENINGER:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  All as part of undertaking J1.1.  Is that an accurate -- 


MS. TAYLOR:  That's fine, thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1: TO UPDATE LIST OF PROJECTS AND VERIFY MATH IS CORRECT IN LIGHT OF OPA REVIEW.

MS. SEBALJ:  I was going to ask you to adjust your rate adder calculation to exclude any ongoing OM&A costs from the provincial recovery, but as I understand your answer, they're all upfront OM&A costs? 

MR. WENINGER:  Yes, that's correct. 

MS. SEBALJ:  I do have some specific questions which go to the point the Panel was making with respect to microFIT FIT connections.

The updated -- the update to Exhibit 2, tab 4, schedule 6, appendix D, which is this compendium page 38, I believe, you indicated that in 2013 an estimated $500,000 is the net cost to Guelph Hydro for connecting a 10-megawatt ground-mounted solar photovoltaic project.

And at table 6 of E2, tab 4, schedule 6, appendix D, table 6, which is compendium page 63 and 64, if you are there, it is under Hanlon TS.  It is indicated there is a 10 megawatt project connecting at the M23 feeder.  Is that correct?

MR. WENINGER:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And then... Sorry.  So can you please give us an update on the discussions between Guelph Hydro and the project proponent for this 10 megawatt project?

MR. WENINGER:  That I can't do at the moment.  That is looked after by a different group.  That is something we can get back to you on, an undertaking.

I can't give you an update.  I am not familiar.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  So if we could mark that as J1.2, which is to provide an update on the discussions between Guelph Hydro and the project proponent for the 10-megawatt solar project connecting at Hanlon M23.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE ON THE DISCUSSIONS BETWEEN GUELPH HYDRO AND THE PROJECT PROPONENT FOR THE 10-megawatt SOLAR PROJECT CONNECTING AT HANLON M23.

MS. SEBALJ:  That puts an end to a bunch of follow-up questions.

Do you know whether it is on schedule to be connected in 2013?

MR. WENINGER:  I can't give you any detail, sorry.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And I am assuming you also -- probably this group isn't in a position to provide me with any history with respect to the connection of private generators to the system?

MR. WENINGER:  We would have to get back to you.  Sorry.

MS. SEBALJ:  If you wouldn't mind providing an undertaking?  And I will read it to you and you can decide whether you want to provide it or not.

What we were going to ask was whether Guelph Hydro has connected private generators to its system in the past and, if so, give a brief description of each of the projects, covering its size in kilowatts or megawatts, the type of project - co-gen, hydroelectric, renewable, et cetera - the cost to connect to the system and a brief description of the connection work.

Do you think that is something that someone back at Guelph Hydro could provide?

MR. WENINGER:  I think the answer is "yes".

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  So we will call that undertaking J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE RESPONSE AS TO WHETHER GUELPH HYDRO HAS CONNECTED PRIVATE GENERATORS TO ITS SYSTEM IN THE PAST AND, IF SO, GIVE BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF EACH OF THE PROJECTS, COVERING ITS SIZE IN KILOWATTS OR MEGAWATTS, THE TYPE OF PROJECT - CO-GEN, HYDROELECTRIC, RENEWABLE, ET CETERA - THE COST TO CONNECT TO THE SYSTEM AND A BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE CONNECTION WORK.

MS. SEBALJ:  I suspect this will also be an undertaking.  If you could provide a description of the work required to connect this particular 10-megawatt solar project, including a cost breakdown into the following categories:  engineering, material, labour and overhead.

Is that something that you think can be provided?

MR. WENINGER:  Yes, I believe so.

MS. SEBALJ:  We will call that undertaking J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  to PROVIDE A DESCRIPTION OF THE WORK REQUIRED TO CONNECT THIS PARTICULAR 10-megawatt SOLAR PROJECT, INCLUDING A COST BREAKDOWN INTO THE FOLLOWING CATEGORIES:  ENGINEERING, MATERIAL, LABOUR AND OVERHEAD.

MS. SEBALJ:  And my last few questions, also related to microFIT/FIT connection.

In response to Technical Conference Question No. 35, which is at the compendium pages 65 and 67 -- sorry, to 67, you indicated that at the time of the creation of Guelph Hydro's Green Energy Act plan, Guelph Hydro did not have sufficient information confirming how many of the over 80 pre-FIT consultations that Guelph engaged in had signed contracts with the OPA, and, further, that at this point in time -- at that point in time, you were able to confirm that the following numbers of projects had signed OPA contracts, and specifically for under -- or up to 250 kilowatts, which are capacity allocation exempt, there were 29 projects, and then zero projects in the greater-than-250 or greater-than-500-kilowatt and under-10-megawatt projects.

Further, in response to question (b) of that number 35, technical conference, of the 29 projects identified which signed OPA contracts, Guelph Hydro estimated the anticipated in-service dates for the projects to be two projects connected in 2010, four projects estimated to be connected by the end of 2011, and 23 projects estimated to be connected in 2012.

And then I take you to compendium page 67, which is Exhibit 2, tab 4, schedule 6, appendix D, page 16, table 7.  And it shows, in the small generation-less-than-250 kilowatts, seven projects in 2012, and then seven in each of 2013, '14 and '15.

So there seems to be a discrepancy here between the reported amounts in the first reference I made showing 23 projects expected to connect in 2012, and then the second reference, which is the most recent one provided in your GEA plan, which shows seven projects in 2012.

Can someone provide me with an explanation for the discrepancy and a current view of how many projects are scheduled to connect in 2012?

MR. WENINGER:  Again, we would have to give you an undertaking.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  So we will call that J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO PROVIDE NUMBER OF PROJECTS TO CONNECT IN 2012.

MS. SEBALJ:  Unless there is any further explanation, those are Board Staff's questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Shepherd, I assume you are next?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think so, yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just have a couple of quick questions.

With respect to -- I am looking at the chart on page 38, which I know you are going to update, but page 38 of the compendium.  I know you are going to update this, but it is a convenient reference point.

With the exception of the renewable generator connection upgrades, all the rest of this stuff looks like you are sort of trying to be an early adopter on some things.  You are trying to get out ahead of the pack, as it were.  Is that a fair characterization?

MR. WENINGER:  The projects that we envisage for our Green Energy Act plan, we wanted to separate projects under the plan from things that we would normally do on our distribution system.  And, in our mind, distribution automation SCADA, we have doing those types of things for years.

So we were specifically looking for what I will describe as non-traditional projects, and we felt that those four projects fell into that category.

We also felt that based on our understanding of the regulation, there is a requirement to file a plan at time of cost-of-service filing, which is 2012, or, if we miss that, then we're looking at 2016.

So that was part of the driver behind identifying those particular projects and including them at this point in time.

We recognize that technology is rapidly advancing.  And, for example, the ZigBee chip, we absolutely would like to make sure that the investment in the ZigBee chip has a tangible benefit.  I know our board wouldn't be too happy with that particular expenditure without an outcome to show for it.

So those are the types of things that went into the thinking behind the projects and the timing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to drive at here is you talked about your analysis of the smart grid issues in 2005, 2006 and 2007, which is -- you were looking at things before everybody else was, in the sense of things like the ZigBee chip.

You were trying to get out ahead of the -- it appears.  And it turned out you were right; right?  The ZigBee chip has now become more of a standard.  It is not standard yet, but more of a standard now than it was; true?

MR. WENINGER:  I would agree.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so it sounds to me - tell me whether this is right -- like you're trying to do the same thing now with things like the electric vehicle and in-home displays and stuff like that, trying to show some leadership; is that right?

MR. WENINGER:  I would agree.

Back when -- and, again, this is before the concept of smart grid or the notion of a Green Energy Act plan was a requirement.  We, as well as a number of other LDCs, recognized the disconnect between the smart meter rollout and the last piece of the connection to the customer inside the home, and we had our own internal debates trying to win over the folks that needed to justify the expenditure internally.  And it wasn't straightforward, because the chip on its own does not have a business case.  It is all of the other stuff. 

Around that same time, third tranche was disappearing and a new conservation program was being designed and rolled out, and again, we just recognized there's very likely CDM programs that could really take advantage of the connection between the rates and real-time or near real-time energy consumption that a smart meter with some kind of chip to an in-home display could provide.

And we just felt it was the right thing to do.

So I take your point.  If you want to call it leadership, yes, we're sort of recognizing that electric vehicles are coming.  We would like to be proactive and, number one, take advantage of the ZigBee chip, that that can be an enabler for a number of items, including the in-home display, including potentially the ability to manage or control -- and we know customers don't like the world "control" but I will use it here anyway -- the timing of charging of systems.

So yes, I would agree with that characterization. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you just talked about electric vehicles as being inevitable.  Is that -- is that similar to your thinking on the ZigBee chip, that this sort of feedback loop of energy use was going to be inevitable and you might as well get ahead of it?  Is that -- am I characterizing that correctly?  Or is that putting --


MS. MANNERS:  I can answer that one.  So the answer would be yes.  Certainly there are all kinds of estimates out there of how fast electric vehicles are going to be adopted in our society.

And really what we're talking about here is societal change, and behavioural change of consumers. 

So I think to Guelph Hydro's credit, we have taken on that challenge, that as an industry, we are leading a societal change here, which is perhaps a little bit different to what the industry has been doing over the last, you know, 50 years or something like that.

So that is why we're focussing a lot of emphasis on increasing awareness on education, education of children, because children, of course, are going to be the next generation who will be driving the electric cars and they will have smart homes.

So we recognize that there is a role for LDCs to play in teaching people what the new world is going to look like. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Everybody's kids are bugging them right now:  When are you getting an electric car, Dad?

MS. MANNERS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I know.  Believe me, I am hearing it.

MS. MANNERS:  Probably on a few Christmas lists, I suspect, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me look -- ask you about one line in this table on page 38, that's -- it says: "Additional technical staffing resources," which is not sort of allocated to anything, but can you tell us a little bit more about what that is?

MR. WENINGER:  The additional technical staffing resources in our earliest submission started off essentially as two, I will call it, smart grid techs that we had included in the human resources portion of our original application submission.

Throughout the course of the proceedings and the interrogatories, we have refined or sort of broken down where we anticipate those staffing resources would be spending their time, and part of it is the additional staffing resources for managing, supporting the ongoing anticipated FIT and microFIT generator connection requests.

The other elements are split between the various projects on the smart grid side of the Green Energy Act plan.

So portions of time would be spent on support for the smart demonstration home, support for building, testing the in-home display messaging project.

And that is what those additional resources are. 

When we first put the table together, because it -- this is a little bit of an art.  We're taking a guess at where we think those resources will be spending a percentage of their time.  We, to be honest, don't have a really good idea of what project is going to require more time than others.

So that is why we separated it out into just additional staffing resources, without trying to break it out into the different projects. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the other four sort of smart grid-related projects, their OM&A is really a little bit understated, in the sense that that 174, for example, in 2012, it really belongs in the other four categories, but you just don't know where to put it?

MR. WENINGER:  That's correct.  I can say the reason that table 1 and 2 look the way we do is we didn't rejig the table to include the OM&A portion under the additional technical resources in the different categories. 

But we have done that through a percentage of timetable requests from a previous Board interrogatory; I don't recall which one. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. WENINGER:  So yes, we would need to include those OM&A pieces in the four different projects under smart grid, as well as the connections piece.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I just have two more areas, then.

The first is with respect to the interaction between the in-home displays and CDM. 

I take it you will agree that you do expect in-home displays to reduce or shift consumption.  Yes? 

MR. WENINGER:  I would expect that, but at the end of the day, we don't mandate or drive how the reporting and tracking and results are allocated. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking whether you are going to count it.  Yet. 

MR. WENINGER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking whether it is going to happen.

MR. WENINGER:  Yes.  We believe there will be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're going to try to find some way to figure out how much is happening? 

MR. WENINGER:  At this point it is unclear if that is an LDC responsibility or if that is something that will be created by the OPA as they take a closer look at the CDM program roll-out and how they allocate reductions, based on a portion goes to -- by virtue of the fact you have an in-home display, versus you're participating in the demand response portion of the program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it is going to be measured by somebody at some point, right? 

MR. WENINGER:  I believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then are you anticipating that once it is measured, that you will get credit for that towards your targets? 

MR. WENINGER:  We would certainly hope so. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then I guess the question is:  Why wouldn't your costs associated with in-home display be CDM costs, if that is the result you are going to get?

MR. WENINGER:  The Green Energy Act plan does not include any of the costs of the display, nor its installation. 

We've indicated we believe that the funding for the displays, at least for the pilot or demonstration part, will be supplied purely by customers signing up for the conservation programs.

But to the points that were made earlier, for this really to shine, ideally you would have 100 percent penetration in your community, and based on the uptake of conservation programs, that is highly unlikely to happen on its own.

And that's where we go back to -- assuming this does move forward -- we would likely need further dialogue with the OEB and OPA to figure out how could we drive this further and deeper. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And finally, on these things like the in-home displays, you are going to learn some things about customer behaviour and stuff like that; that is a primary reason why you're doing it, right? 

MR. WENINGER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are going to be sharing this information with other LDCs? 

MR. WENINGER:  Yes.  Absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Through what mechanism?  Through this smart grid group?

MR. WENINGER:  There is a number of mechanisms.  The EDA represents electric distributors in Ontario.  There is an OPA smart grid working forum.

There's other smart grid -- for example, the Grid Smart City, where there is already over 20 LDCs and industry and manufacturing representation on there.

So there is a number of vehicles or avenues for --


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to drive at is you are not going to treat any of this information as proprietary information that you spent to get, and therefore you are not going to share it? 

MR. WENINGER:  No.  Absolutely not.  We do our share of borrowing from other utilities' experience.  There is no need to reinvent the wheel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are there other areas within your business -- forget CDM for now -- are there other areas within your business that you rely on other utilities to sort of take the lead and show you what can be done and then you follow?  Do you have -- can you think of examples of that? 

MR. WENINGER:  We do that through CDM, but you are looking for non-CDM examples?  A couple of examples.

As we were going through the IFRS process, Guelph Hydro partnered with two other LDCs or three in our region.

MR. MILES:  Yes.  To cost-share a depreciation study, things like that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Utilities do this all the time, right?  Somebody takes the lead on issue X, and somebody else on issue Y, and then you share the information? 

MR. MILES:  Collaborate, yes.

MS. MANNERS:  Certainly from a communications standpoint, there is a lot of exchanging of information.  So whether it is a brochure about landscaping around your transformer or it is smart meter brochures, website development, safety information for the public, all of those sorts of things we would share information on. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  I have no other questions.  Thanks.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thanks.  Good afternoon, panel.

Just briefly on the -- yes, I made you look.

Just briefly with respect to electric vehicle program, I think Ms. Manners was talking about in other jurisdictions, particularly in B.C., talking about there being a plan in place.  Whose plan is that?

MS. MANNERS:  B.C. Hydro has produced the plan.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And is it something simply internal to B.C. Hydro, or is that something they have presented to their regulator?  Do you have any details about that?

MS. MANNERS:  No.  I would have to go back to the plan.  It is something I read probably a year-and-a-half ago.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thanks.  That's fine.

I just have a few questions just confirming the progression of the smart meter rider disposal, or the smart meter disposal rider.

My understanding is that there is an updated proposal before the Board.  I just wanted to go from start to finish very quickly just to understand where we are.

My understanding from the original filing - I am looking at the Guelph smart meter revenue requirement calculation model which was filed on June 30th - that originally the proposal was for a $0.1 revenue rider collected from customers, and specifically from customers in the residential and smart meter class, because those are the ones who had smart meters.  Is that the original proposal?

MS. BIRCEANU:  I may say, yes, you are correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. BIRCEANU:  And, actually, in our original submission, we have proposed to ignore that, being to not - too small.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, okay.  Thank you.  Then I think it is at the close of the IR responses there was an updated proposal, which was dated September 30th.

I think the updated proposal was a 5 cent per customer rebate for one year.  And in that case, it was rebates to all customers, not just customers with smart meters?

MS. BIRCEANU:  That's correct, all smart meter customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, all smart meter customers?

MS. BIRCEANU:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  I am looking at the table in sheet 8, that particular table.  It says refund per meter customer, whereas the original one had a refund per smart meter.

MS. BIRCEANU:  Sorry.  What page are you on?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am looking at sheet 8, applied-for smart meter cost recovery in the Excel spreadsheet dated September 30th of 2011.  It says refund per meter customer.

If you look at the calculations, it uses the 2012 forecast metered customers as opposed to only smart meter customers.  So I thought that meant you were going from an original smart meter calculation based on a rider disposal based on just smart meter customers to a proposal based on all customers, not just smart meter customers.

MS. BIRCEANU:  I know what you mean here.  It is not an inconsistency, let's say.

So our -- our theory here is, Is there something to give back to the customers?  Then give to the customer the contributed to.

If there is something to recover from, is a class that has the smart meter installed.  It is not an inconsistency.  It is only a logic in place.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But I am right, though, in terms of the progression, because this isn't where you are at now.  But the progression was collecting from customers.  It was just smart meter customers.

MS. BIRCEANU:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Rebate customers on the update, and that rebate would go to all meter customers?

MS. BIRCEANU:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  More than just the residential and GS under 50 classes?

MS. BIRCEANU:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then the current proposal before the Board is -- I think you mentioned this as one of the updates that were filed in the last week or two weeks.

MS. BIRCEANU:  November 23rd.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, November 23rd, Guelph smart meter disposition rate rider calculation.  And this is the result of Board Staff Technical Conference Question No. 19, I think, which makes a number of updates to the basic numbers, but then also to how you allocate the recovery -- or, sorry, the rebate to customers?

MS. BIRCEANU:  That's correct.  It TCQ 19, Board Staff.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just to summarize the results of this analysis - and I think it is your new proposal - the refund to residential ratepayers is 12-cent rebate for one year?

MS. BIRCEANU:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  A 25-cent rebate to GS-less-than-50 customers, a 90-cent rebate to GS 50 to 999 kilowatt-hour customers, a rebate of $1.07 to the 1,000 to 5,000 kilowatt rate class GS, and then for large users a rebate of $3.06?

MS. BIRCEANU:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I read that out, because I don't think anybody else has the spreadsheet in front of them.

My understanding, generally speaking, other than the update to the numbers, which I believe were suggested by Board Staff in the technical conference question, and you have accepted, the major difference between this and the other two models was that you were calculating the rate rider based on a per class basis, rather than on a simply on a per meter basis?

MS. BIRCEANU:  That's correct, but we -- actually, we did other updates.  One is updating the cost of capital parameters.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Mm-hm.

MS. BIRCEANU:  Secondly, correcting an error on revenue collected via rate -- funding rate adders from September to December 2011.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. BIRCEANU:  Yes, it was forecast.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  On top of --


MS. BIRCEANU:  On top of -- yes.  Exactly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- doing the rate class specific --


MS. BIRCEANU:  The other was to calculate OM&A on monthly basis and calculate the interest.

And I think that is all.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And just looking at the table here, I noticed that for the three rate classes that are included in the table, other than residential and GS-less-than-50, there are actually no smart meters installed in those classes; right?

MS. BIRCEANU:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that drives the fact that they have much larger rebates, because they paid into the smart meter adder, and are now getting a refund based on the fact they actually don't have any smart meters installed?

MS. BIRCEANU:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And, again, this is the company's new position in terms of how the smart meter amounts should be disposed of in 1555 and 1556?

MS. BIRCEANU:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. BIRCEANU:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  One last question, and I only ask this because I have been involved in a series of these cases now.

I have noticed, and I pointed out already, that you don't have any smart meters installed in these last three classes.

But I believe I have seen examples where other utilities do have smart meters installed in those classes, and it has driven much different results in terms of the smart meter dispositions, because, for example, in the large user class, a smart meter might cost over $1,000.

I was just wondering why it is that Guelph, even though you have customers in these classes, albeit only a few, particularly in the large user class, you don't have smart meter costs and you didn't install smart meters.

MR. WENINGER:  Yes.  The definition of a smart meter says it is residential or GS-less-than-50, and it records information on an hourly basis, and then it traditionally uses or currently uses wireless backhaul.

We have installed what I will call interval meters, which are more elaborate versions of smart meters, on our large customers for many years.  They typically record on five minutes.  They typically have phone line dial-up, or we're getting into VPN connections.

Those meters have a lot more functionality instead of just energy.  They also do real and reactive and demand and power factor, and they can totalize across.

So the technology is very different than what I will call a smart meter.

And at the present time, the MDMR acknowledges support for residential and GS-less-than-50.  They don't have support for bidirectional microFIT meters, for example.

So we haven't gone to that step of moving the smart meter threshold beyond the 50 kilowatt.  Down the road, I expect it will, but at the moment we haven't done that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. TAYLOR:  Do you have any questions?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, actually, sorry.  Can I ask one last question?  It is a clarification.  I totally forgot, and I apologize.

My understanding is that the costs for the -- the capital costs related to the smart meters in this table - and this is the November 23rd table - would include the cost of the ZigBee chips, i.e., the revenue requirement for the ZigBee chips?

MR. WENINGER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if at the end of the day the Board would disallow those costs or park them, or what have you, and you wanted to stay with this approach, you would have to extract those costs from this table; correct?

MR. WENINGER:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. TAYLOR:  So the Panel has no questions, I am assuming we are done now.  No one else has any comments or questions?  Yes, I need to do that now, don't I, have re-direct?  Thanks, Ken.
Re-Examination by Mr. Sidlofsky

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry.  Sorry, Mr. Weninger has --


MR. WENINGER:  Sorry, if I might.  There was a question from earlier on.  It was related to some sort of detail or background on why the OM&A sort of bumped in 2013, and then why the gradual drop-off.  And it is related to details in the background where staffing resources ramp up around 2013, 2014, and then around 2015 we're in the wind-down phase. 

MS. SEBALJ:  Staffing resources for? 

MR. WENINGER:  Sandy had talked about part-time staff to coordinate and serve as the docents or the folks that manage the groups that come through the demonstration smart homes.  So that is part of the reason for the hump.

The 2012, '13, we're ramping up on the build and getting the technology in place, and then it slowly winds down.

So that is the background behind the curve on the OM&A.

MS. SEBALJ:  That is helpful.  Thanks.

Just one of the things Board Staff wanted to make sure is that that is not specifically related to the conference.

MS. MANNERS:  No.  Not at all.

MS. SEBALJ:  That it just happens to be the ramp-up at that period, and it also happens to be the time that people probably will be coming through for the conference if the smart home is built in time.

MS. MANNERS:  Right.

MS. SEBALJ:  But those resources will be spent regardless?

MS. MANNERS:  They were really intended to serve as resources for a launch when you would expect to see the most people going through, and having to ramp up for activities to get the thing going. 

MS. SEBALJ:  That's helpful.  Thank you for reminding us.  We were supposed to have it after our break, but we didn't get a break. 

MR. WENINGER:  No problem.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks. 

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Sidlofsky, do you have any redirect? 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Taylor, I appreciate the invitation, but no, I have no questions for redirect.

MS. TAYLOR:  So I wasn't entirely pre-emptive.

So if there are no further questions, the calendar for the remainder of the proceeding is set out in the second procedural order, and I will just remind you what those dates are. 

Argument-in-chief is to be filed by December 14th.  Staff, Board Staff will file its written submission by January 4th.  And intervenor submissions are due by January the 6th.  And then any final response from Guelph must be filed by January 20th.

And any of the undertakings arising from this proceeding today, we would like filed to the Board by December the 12th.  I am assuming that is a manageable date.

So December 12th it is, and if there are no additional items, then this hearing is adjourned.  Thank you. 

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:25 p.m.
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